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St atement of the Proceedings

Thi s proceedi ng concerns proposals for assessnment of civi
penalties filed by the petitioner against the respondent pursuant
to section 110(a) of the Federal M ne Safety and Health act of
1977, 30 U.S.C. O 820(a), seeking civil penalty assessments for
two (2) alleged violations of mandatory safety standard 30 C.F. R
0 56.14107(a). The respondent filed a tinmely answer and
hearing was held in Manhattan, Kansas. The parties filed
posthearing briefs, and | have considered their arguments in
the course of ny adjudication of this matter.

| ssues

The issues presented are (1) whether the conditions or
practices cited by the inspector constitute violations of the
cited mandatory safety standards, and if so, (2) the appropriate
civil penalties to be assessed for the violations, taking into
account the civil penalty assessnent criteria found in
section 110(i) of the Act. Additional issues raised by the
parties are identified and di sposed of in the course of this
deci si on.
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Applicable Statutory and Regul atory Provisions
The Federal M ne Safety and Health Act of
1977, Pub. L. 95-164, 30 U.S.C. 0O 801, et
seq.

30 CF.R 0 56.14107(a).
Commi ssion rules, 29 C.F.R 0O 2700.1 et seq.

Sti pul ati ons

The parties stipulated in relevant part as follows
(Exhibit ALJ-1):

1

The respondent, is engaged in the mning and
selling of limestone (crushed and broken) in
the United States, and its m ning operations
af fect interstate commrerce

The respondent is the owner and operator of
Kansas Falls Quarry and M1l Mne, MSHA |.D.
No. 14-00164.

The respondent is subject to the jurisdiction
of the Federal M ne Safety and health Act of
1977, 30 U.S.C. 0O 801 et seq ("the Act").

The Adm nistrative Law Judge has jurisdiction
inthis matter.

The subject citations were properly served by
a duly authorized representative of the
Secretary upon an agent of respondent on the
dates and pl aces stated therein, and may be
admtted into evidence for the purpose of
establishing their issuance, and not for the
trut hful ness or relevancy of any statenments
asserted therein.

The proposed penalties will not affect the
respondent's ability to continue in business.

The respondent is a small nmine operator with
81, 602 hours worked in 1991.

The certified copy of the MSHA Assessed
Violations History accurately reflects the
history of this mne for the two years prior
to the date of the citations.
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Di scussi ons

The citations issued in this case were both issued on
March 19, 1992, by MSHA Inspector Richard Laufenberg, and they
both cite alleged violations of mandatory safety standard
30 C.F.R [ 56.14107(a).

Section 104(a) non-"S&S" Citation No. 4123442, states as
foll ows:

The V-belt drive unit on the #1 screen was not guarded.
A | ocked gate at the bottom of the stairs to the #1
screen was being used as a neans to guard the V-belt
unit. Current MSHA policy does not allow for a gate to
be used as a neans to guard novi ng nmachi ne parts.

Section 104(a) non-"S&S" citation No. 4123553, states as
foll ows:

The V-belt drive units on the #2 and #3 screens were
not guarded. A locked gate at the bottom of the stairs
to the #2 and #3 screens was being used as a neans to
guard the V-belt units. Current MSHA policy does not
allow for a gate to be used as a nmeans to guard noving
machi ne parts.

I nspector Laufenberg confirned that he nodified citation
No. 4123553, in Novenber, 1992, to delete any reference to the
No. 3 screen, because he saw no point in issuing a separate
citation and he considered both screens to be in the sane area
(Exhibit P-5; Tr. 13, 19, 53).

Petitioner's Testinmny and Evi dence

MSHA | nspector Richard Laufenberg confirnmed that he
i nspected the respondent's surface |linmestone mne quarry
operation on March 19, 1992. He stated that he issued citation
No. 4123552, on the No. 1 screen V-belt drive unit because it was
not guarded in that it was not totally enclosed at the actua
drive unit. The screen was el evated off the ground and rested on
four legs. The drive unit was approximately two to four feet
above an adjacent wal kway that was on the south side of the
screen. The wal kway was approxi mately three-feet wide, with an
outside handrail. M. Laufenberg identified Exhibit P-6, as a
di agram of the screen unit that he drew fromhis field notes. He
prepared the di agram when he returned to the mne for a
conpl i ance followup inspection (Tr. 10-19).

M. Laufenberg identified the cited V-belt drive and wal kway
in question and nmarked his diagram accordingly (Tr. 19-20). He
stated that the pinch points were "right at the wal kway", and
they consisted of the shive on the screen drive which served to
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shake the screen, and the nmotor drive. The turning shive was a
nmovi ng machi ne parts, and the V-belt itself was approxi mately an
inch to a couple of inches wide and noved "very fast, maybe as
fast as a thousand RPM s", and was al so a noving nmachi ne part

whi ch was not guarded all around the structure (Tr. 21-22).

M. Laufenberg stated that the pinch points that he
descri bed coul d be contacted by soneone, and be believed that
such contact would result in lacerations, and if soneone's hand
was pulled through the pulleys, it would result in broken bones
or permanent disability such as a loss of a finger "if it went
t hrough the shive" (Tr. 22). He also believed that an injury
woul d result if soneone caught their clothing in the pinch points
(Tr. 23). He was al so concerned that soneone woul d suffer
injuries if he slipped and fell into the running V-belt drive,
and woul d suffer non-fatal injuries resulting in | ost work days
or restricted duty (Tr. 23).

M. Laufenberg stated that it was unlikely that an injury
woul d occur because a gate restricted access to the cited area,
and it was unlikely that anyone would be there while the
equi pment was running (Tr. 24). The gate was | ocated at the
bottom of the stairs connecting the ground |evel to the el evated
deck area, and he was infornmed that the gate was normally kept
| ocked when the plant was in operation, and that the key to the
| ocked gate was kept by the quarry supervisor Cifford Menning
(Tr. 24-25). M. Laufenberg confirmed that the gate was | ocked
when he was at the plant, but he did not enter the area because
he did not believe it was safe to do so while the equi pnent was
in operation (Tr. 26).

M. Laufenberg identified Exhibit P-3, as a photograph of
the | ocked gate leading to the No. 1 screen (Tr. 27). He did
not nmeasure the gate, but estimated that it was approximtely
40 i nches high and that there was wire nesh material around the
gate access area (Tr. 29-30). He believed that it was possible
for soneone to clinmb over the fence (Tr. 31).

M. Laufenberg stated that sonmeone woul d have occasion to
be on the wal kway for maintenance if there was a problem such as
holes in the screens, which would affect the sizing of the
mat eri al s, and he woul d possibly go there to check on the problem
(Tr. 31-32). M. Laufenberg also believed that someone woul d be
in the area for preventive, routine nmaintenance, such as |ubri-
cation of the machine parts, and that "nobst operations" do this
on a daily basis. He did not know that the respondent perforned
such mai ntenance, was not aware of its mai ntenance schedul e, and
only generally knew from his experience that such equi pment is
greased. He did not know if the specific equipnment in question
was a greasel ess or mmi ntenance free operation
(Tr. 33).
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M. Laufenberg stated that dependi ng on production, the
respondent had 20 to 30 enpl oyees at its operation, and that
one plant operator would be at the screening plant while it was
runni ng, and he would be located in a small control room He
stated that M. Menning informed himthat no one would be in
the wal kway area when the equi pnment was operating, and that the
respondent's procedure was to shut the equi pment down when
mai nt enance was performed (Tr. 35). M. Laufenberg was not
aware of any accidents at the respondent's operation as a result
of unguarded equi pment (Tr. 37).

M. Laufenberg confirnmed that one person, nanmely the plant
operator, would be affected by the unguarded equi pnent "if he
was to go up there with the equi pnent running” (Tr. 37). He
confirmed that he did not speak with the plant operator, and
only spoke to M. Menning (Tr. 38).

M. Laufenberg stated that his testinony with respect to the
second citation he issued on the No. 2 screen would be the sane
as his testinony regarding the No. 1 screen, and the parties
agreed that this was true (Tr. 39-40). He did not know for sure
that it was possible to shut off one of the screens wthout
shutting off the others, but stated "no" (Tr. 41).

M. Laufenberg confirnmed his "noderate negligence" finding,
and expl ai ned that he based this on the fact that MSHA had
previously informed the respondent during a prior inspection in
August, 1991, that the V-belt drive needed to be guarded, and
that the gate at the No. 1 screen would no | onger be considered a
guard (Tr. 42). He stated that the respondent was inforned of
this by Inspector Joe Quartaro, and that he (Laufenberg)

di scussed this prior inspection with M. Menning during his
March, 1992, inspection (Tr. 42). He stated that M. Moenning
informed himthat it was his understandi ng when he di scussed the
matter with M. Quartaro in August, 1991, that the respondent
woul d be allowed to provide guards for the equi pnent during the
shutdown (Tr. 43). M. Laufenberg characterized a "shutdown" as
"routine maintenance, shutdown for inclement weather during the
winter" (Tr. 44).

M. Laufenberg further explained that M. Mdenning told him
that M. Quartero indicated that the repairs could he nade "at
their conveni ence, or when they shut down" because the guards
needed to be built and no production would be [ ost during the
shut down (Tr. 45).

M. Laufenberg confirmed that he issued the second citation
No. 413553, on the No. 2 screen V-belt drive unit five m nutes
after the first citation, and that the No. 2 unit was the sane as
the No. 1 unit, and it was not guarded at all with a physica
guard around the pinch points. He believed that a person could
contact the unguarded No. 2 unit nmoving parts, and that the
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conditions and hazard exposure for both screens was the sane,
that the relative location of both screens was the sane, that
both wal kways were of the sane width, and that access to the
No. 2 screen was by a stairway and wal kway (Tr. 51).

M. Laufenberg confirmed that his gravity findings for the
No. 2 screen were the same as the No. 1 screen, and that an
injury was unlikely because he believed the conpany has a policy
that no one is to go up to that area when the equi pment is
runni ng, and that a gate was | ocated at the bottom of the stairs
(Tr. 52). However, he believed that it was possible for someone
to clinb over the gate, and that his testinony regarding his
belief that someone would be on the No. 2 screen wal kway woul d be
the sane as his testinony regarding the No. 1 screen (Tr. 53).

M. Laufenberg stated that the citations were not abated by
the termination date of April 14, 1992, and he | earned of this
when he returned to the mine site during his second fiscal year
1992, inspection. M. Menning informed himat that tine that
the V-belt guards had not been built because of the prior
agreement that this would be done after a shut down and at the
respondent's conveni ence, and that twelve nonths had passed from
August, 1991, until his second inspection in 1992, and the guards
had not been installed (Tr. 56). M. Laufenberg concl uded that
there was no justification for extending the abatenent tine
further, and he proceeded to issue section 104(b) orders for both
screens on Septenber 21, 1992, when he returned to the site
(Tr. 56-57). He confirned that M. Menning informed him at that
time that the screens were guarded by two | ocked gates that were
kept |ocked all of the time and that he had the key (Tr. 58). He
al so stated that M. Menning informed himthat the screens were
not physically guarded because MSHA had accepted the gates in the
past (Tr. 58-59).

M. Laufenberg stated that during his first inspection
M. Moenning's main objection to guarding the screens was the
agreement that this could be done during the shut down,
and that during his second inspection M. Menning took the
position that the gates were in place, that "we had accepted
themin the past”, and "al so brought up the fact that, you know,
we had that agreenent, that they were going to do it" (Tr. 59).
M. Laufenferg confirnmed that he recommended that the citations
be "specially assessed" because the respondent had been cited
for not having the guards built, and did not do so (Tr. 60-61).

M. Laufenberg stated that he was not aware of any MSHA
witten policy approving a | ocked gate as an acceptabl e means of
guardi ng novi ng nmachi ne parts. However, he explained that he was
aware of the fact that MSHA supervisor MGee, of the Topeka
O fice, had attended a neeting in Denver, where an April,

1991, inspector's manual policy was discussed, (Exhibit P-11),
and he explained the manual policy as follows at (Tr. 66-67;, 72):
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THE W TNESS: The April, '91 policy basically says
we' Il not accept it, that is what we are tal ki ng about
here, the chain lock, chain restricted access. Wen
M. MGee canme back, we discussed this at a staff
meet i ng.

THE COURT: \What happened then?

THE WTNESS: He basically informed us that the
district manager at that time was aware that he had
know edge that there were using chains, gates, as a
guard to bl ock access to certain pinch points. He

i nformed the supervisors that if they were aware of the
condition, that they were to instruct the inspectors to
tell the mine operators that they were no | onger going
to be able to use a gate, that they could |l eave the
gate, but they would also have to build the guards.

* * * * * * *

The inspectors were -- if they had any of those, that
we were supposed to notify the m ne operators they
needed to follow the intent of new 1988 regul ation

that the equi pnent itself be encl osed and guarded.

That was the reason for the new policy. The inspectors
were told if we had any of those, to give the operators
an opportunity to guard them and not cite them but
when we went back to evaluate the situation, to take
what ever appropriate action we thought was necessary to
get the equi pment guarded.

Q Do you know whet her or not Wl ker Stone was
informed of this change in policy?

A.  Yes, | do.

Q And | think it's been -- you have al ready
testified to it, when did they receive this
notification?

A I was informed in Septenber -- the | ast week
in Septenber of 1991, the neeting with Joe
Quartaro and Jim McGee, and Ji m McGee said
that Wal ker Stone was informed in August, a
mont h before our neeting, that they were
informed that they were going to have to
buil d these guards.

M. Laufenberg did not believe that the respondent exercised
good faith conmpliance in this case because it took over twelve
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mont hs to conplete the guarding and the guards were built only
after the section 104(b) orders were issued (Tr. 76-77). He
confirmed that the respondent was using the gates with the

know edge of MSHA inspectors, and that sonmeone had accepted the
gates as conpliance in the past. Although there was no fornal
MSHA gate policy in the past approving their use, M. Laufenberg
confirmed that the respondent had been cited in the past for not
havi ng gates, and after installing them the citation was
termnated (Tr. 78).

On cross-exam nation, M. Laufenberg stated that the
guardi ng regul atory section 56.14107, has been in effect since
the effective updated version effective August, 1988 (Tr. 79). He
confirmed that the citations he issued in this case stated that
"current MSHA policy does not allow for a gate to be used as a
means to guard noving machine parts" (Tr. 79-80). He confirnmed
that the previously referred to provision cited as Exhibit P-11
refers to the use of chains as non-conplying guards for noving
machi ne parts, and that a chain is not a gate, and that this
prior policy does not directly address |ocked gates (Tr. 80).

M. Laufenberg confirmed that it was his understandi ng that
the respondent was cited on Septenber 1, 1985, for having chains
across wal kways (Tr. 80-81). He confirned that he inspected the
respondent's operation in August, 1989, but did not cite the
gates at that tine becane they were installed at that time to
termnate a citation issued by another inspector (Tr. 82). He
agreed that he would feel "confortable" if he had abated such a
citation by installing a gate, and that he would di scuss such a
situation with an inspector who wanted to cite himfor the sane
condition at some future time (Tr. 82).

M. Laufenberg confirmed that he issued the citations in
March, 1992, fixed the abatenent tinme as April 14, 1992, and did
not return to the mne until Septenber, 1992. He did not believe
that the cited conditions were serious because access to the
cited areas was restricted by the | ocked gates (Tr. 83). He
further confirnmed that when he returned in Septenber, 1992,

M. Moenning told himthat pursuant to the agreenent the prior
twel ve nonths, the guards would be installed during the w nter
shut down, but that there was no shutdown that year (Tr. 84).
Concedi ng that there was no opportunity for the respondent to
install the guards pursuant to the agreenent because there was no
shutdown, M. Laufenberg stated that he issued the citations
because "I feel that there was an opportunity in that six-nonth
period for themto fix it", and that this was a reasonable tinme
to build the guards because they were ultimately built in four to
five hours to abate the orders (Tr. 84-85).
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Respondent's Testi nony and Evi dence

Clifford Mdenning, respondent's plant nanager, confirmed
that he was served with the citations issued by the inspector
He stated that he informed the inspector that the guards woul d be
installed when there was a wi nter shut down, but that no
shut downs occurred in 1991 or 1992, because the weather permtted
the plant to remain in operation (Tr. 92). He confirmed that the
respondent had previously received a citation No. 2392412, on
Septenber 11, 1985, for the sane screen V-belt drives cited in
this case, and at that time chains were installed across those
areas with a sign prohibiting entry while the equipnent was in
operation (Exhibit RA Tr. 93). He further confirmed that this
citation was abated by installing | ocked gates and screens over
the stair rails so people could not clinb over them (Tr. 94).
These gates are higher than 40 feet, and they have not been
changed since 1985 (Tr. 95).

M. Moenning confirnmed that Inspector Laufenberg inspected
the plant in 1989, but did not cite the gates, and he coul d not
renmenber discussing the gates with the inspector (Tr. 97). He
stated that there are three other simlar screens at other
| ocations that he supervises. Two of the screens are guarded
simlar to the ones cited in this case and they are reached by a
| adder which is renmoved to bl ock access when work is perforned on
the screen. The third screen is a dry screen that is "guarded up
above", and none of these screens have ever been physically
guarded (Tr. 97-98).

M. Moenni ng expl ai ned how the guards were constructed on
site and installed to abate the section 104(b) orders issued by
the inspector, and he stated that it took six or seven hours to
do this work with sonme difficulty because the guards had to be
constructed to withstand the vibrations of the screens (Tr. 100).

On cross-exam nation, M. Menning stated that he has a key
to the | ocked gates in question, and that the operator who
controls the screening machinery also has a key. |f the operator
has reason to go to those areas, he can unlock the gates, and go
to the machinery areas. He confirmed that he or the operator is
there at all tinmes. The machinery is turned on and off by
el ectrical buttons in the operator's control house, and the
screens and parts can be turned off separately (Tr. 102).

M. Moenning confirned that he was at the plant in August,
1991, when I nspector Quartaro conducted an inspection, and he
confirmed that the inspector informed himthat MSHA' s Denver
regi onal manager sent him a personal nmessage stating that MSHA no
| onger considered gates as adequate guards for the screens.

M. Moenning stated that he informed M. Wil ker that gates were
no | onger acceptable and they di scussed providing the guards when
there was a shut down (Tr. 103).
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M. Moenning stated that he informed M. Wl ker about the
citations issued by Inspector Laufenberg in March, 1992, and they
di scussed taking care of it during the shutdown tinme, and
M. Wal ker "said we would take care of it in shutdown time"
(Tr. 105). M. Menning stated that he told M. Laufenberg that
he had "al ready changed the sane thing three tines, | didn't know
whet her the | aw had changed or not", and that M. Laufenberg
informed himthat "they interpret the |aw different now than they
did before" (Tr. 105). When asked for an explanation as to why
t he guards had not been provided from August, 1991, through
March 19, 1992, M. Menning stated as follows at (Tr. 105-106):

A. We felt that we had abated slips on that, and
-- fromthe prior tinme, and we felt it wasn't
a danger area. There's no one works up there
while that operation is in -- while the
machine is in operation, and we didn't have
any shutdown tinme, and we didn't feel it was
an emergency tinme thing.

M. Moenning stated that when the inspector visited the site
i n August, 1991, he did not issue a citation, and the gates had
remai ned in place from 1985 to 1991, and were there when
M. Quartero cane to the site (Tr. 108).

M. Moenning stated that in Septenber, 1992, the pl ant
operated six days a week, from7:30 or 8:00 AM to 4:30 or
5:30 P.M daily, including the winter, but depending on the
wor kl oad and weather (Tr. 110). He confirnmed that the equi pnent
did not operate between closing tinme in the afternoon and the
next norning, and he could not recall any shutdowns "that woul d
take me down | ong enough to guard the screens" (Tr. 112). He
confirmed that materials were on hand for building the guards and
stated that "we build guards all the tinme" (Tr. 112). He stated
that he never had any nmmi ntenance that would have required a shut
down for several hours (Tr. 113).

M. Moening stated that M. Laufenberg never told himthat
he could wait until a shut down to fix the guards, that he had no
agreement with M. Laufenberg, and that M. Laufenberg told him
to "Fix it" (Tr. 114). M. Moenning further stated that when
M. Laufenberg issued the March, 13, 1992, citations, he
(Moenning) did not believe that he had the next seven nonths
until winter to install the guards, but he did not believe that
it was an energency, and that "this was the third tinme that | had
redid this for MSHA, wi thout any |aw changi ng or anything el se
. We'd fixed it and like, they were satisfied with it for
years" (Tr. 114-115).

M. Moenning stated that his workl oad was heavy after the
citations were issued, and although he could not recall if
M. Laufenberg told himthat he would issue a section 104(b)
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order when he returned if the citations were not abated, he
stated that "he m ght have told ne that" (Tr. 117).

Davi d Wal ker, the respondent's owner-operator, stated
that the plant was purchased in 1970, and when the M ne Act
became effective in 1977, chains were in place to guard the
screens in question, and he was cited for this and it was
corrected. Subsequently, in August, 1991, M. Quartaro canme to
the mne, but did not issue a citation, and M. Menning told him
that M. Quartaro informed himthat the gates on the stairs that
accessed the screens were no |longer acceptable and that every
novi ng part on the screening tower had to be guarded
(Tr. 119-120). The regulation had not changed at that tine,
and M. Menning informed himthat he agreed to guard each
V-belt on the screening tower during the w nter shutdown
(Tr. 121). M. Walker stated that "I said fine . . . | didn't
feel like we had to, because we al ready had an abated citation on
the sane guarding citation, but to get along with them we woul d
do it" (Tr. 121). However, there was no wi nter shutdown and "we
wanted to operate right through the winter,"” but that this was
not common (Tr. 121).

M. Wal ker confirmed that M. Laufenberg inspected the
plant in 1989, but did not cite the gates, and that no citations
were issued for the gates since 1985, until M. Laufenberg cited
themin March 1992 (Tr. 122). M. Wl ker stated that when
M. Moenning informed himof the citations, he infornmed
M. Moenning that "we have an agreement with them that we'l
fix them when we shut down. We haven't shut down, so | felt I|ike
our agreenment was still good" (Tr. 123). M. Wil ker agreed that
he had no agreement with M. Laufenberg, but believed that he had
one with MSHA. \Wen asked who he had the agreenent with,
M. Wal ker responded "I think the inspectors all speak for MSHA"
(Tr. 123).

M. Wl ker stated that he decided to conply in Decenber,
1992, when he ordinarily shut down, and that he did so after
calling the local MSHA district manager in Topeka, who infornmed
himthat "he was ordered by the district nanager to wite it"
(Tr. 124). M. Wil ker expl ai ned his understanding of the
agreenent as follows at (Tr. 125):

THE WTNESS: W had agreed to conply with their
request. | felt Iike we already had it guarded, we

al ready have an abated citation that says it's okay.
They said, "Okay, we do it when we have tinme," because
this has been okay for five or six years, or whatever.

M. Wil ker stated that "I don't think regulation by policy
is legal", and when rem nded that "policy is not the | aw'
he responded "I understand that, they changed the policy"
(Tr. 125-126). Respondent's counsel stated that "The MSHA
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al l owed conpliance, that is the whole issue", but he agreed that
this is not a | egal defense, and M. Walker believed that it was
(Tr. 126).

M. Wal ker believed that he had a verbal agreenent with the
i nspector (Quartaro) "to fix it when we shut down" and to change
the nethod of guarding during the shutdown. He stated that he
never received any witten notification that gates were not
acceptable and that "all | had was the word of an inspector, that
they weren't going to accept it any nore, and we agreed to fix
it" (Tr. 127).

On cross-exam nation, M. Wl ker reviewed the | anguage of
section 56.14107(a), and he believed that it allows for the use
of gate guardi ng because "the nmachine part is not accessible, it
doesn't have to be guarded" (Tr. 130). He nentioned a guarding
exception if the equipnent is seven feet off the ground and
i naccessi bl e, but conceded that the two cited pinch points were
not seven feet fromthe wal kways (Tr. 131). He stated that he
has never attenpted to file a petition for nodification of the
standard, and did not know about this provision (Tr. 131).

M. Wl ker confirmed that he was aware of the fact that in
August, 1991, Inspector Quartaro infornmed M. Menning that the
use of gates were no longer sufficient to guard the equi pnent in
guestion, and that he discussed this with M. Myenning. It was
M. Wal ker's recollection that M. Menning told himabout his
conversation with M. Quartaro, and it was his understandi ng that
he could wait until the winter shutdown to install the guards,
and he guessed that M. Quartaro assumed the wi nter shutdown tinme
frame (Tr. 134-135). He denied knowi ng that M. Quartaro had
stated that the next tinme an inspector cane to the mne he would
be cited if the equi pnent was not guarded (Tr. 135).

M. Wal ker confirmed that he was aware of the citations
i ssued by | nspector Laufenberg in March, 1992, and he stated "I
felt confortable with our abated citation. | didn't think you
could come change the rules in the mddle of the gane and get
fined for it" (Tr. 136). He further explained that he relied on
t he agreenent and that he woul d abate the citations and change
the guardi ng when the operation shut down. He believed that he
could do this at his convenience, and that it was very possible
that if he did not shut down for the winter, he would have waited
until the next year to install the guards. He further relied on
his belief that no changes in the regulation had occurred since
1985, and his view that the gates constituted conpliance because
they restricted access to the area and neet the purpose of the
regul ation (Tr. 136-138).

M. Wl ker stated that after the citations were issued by
M. Laufenberg, he instructed M. Menning to nake the repairs
"if he had time at any tine, even if it was before the winter
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shutdown" (Tr. 138). M. Wil ker did not believe he had to guard
the screens by the schedul ed abatement tine because "You get
extensions all the time" (Tr. 139). M. Walker did not believe
that the section 104(b) orders should have been issued, and he
stated that he tried to protest them (Tr. 139). He further
stated that if he had not received the orders he would not have
install ed the guards and would have waited to do this during the
next shutdown because he believed that the gates were in
conpliance, and his belief in this regard is based on the fact
that the initial citation he received was abated after the gates
were installed (Tr. 139-141). He further explained as follows at
(Tr. 144-145):

Q You are saying you feel confortable with the
abated citation in the face of an inspector
coming and telling you that the policy has
changed, that you need to guard it, you stil
feel confortable with the abated citation?

A. It's true that | felt protected, but | also
agreed to change it.

Q But did you agree to change it as soon as you
coul d?

A. As soon as it was convenient for us to do
t hat .

Q Wasn't this conveni ence rather |oose? |
mean, you said earlier that you didn't really
know what MSHA assuned, but did you realize
that your idea of conveni ence would not being
l[ine with what MSHA's idea of convenience
was?

A That's very possible.
Q In other words, you know by not abating the
citation that you were not doi ng what MSHA

asked you to do?

A That's correct. | also felt like it was not
regul ation, it was policy.

Q And that was prior to the citation being
i ssued, is that correct?

A. That's right.

Q After the citation was issued, you stil
didn't abate the citation?
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A No, because | still felt like it was policy,
not regul ation.

Q All of this time were not these two V-belt

pi nch points -- | should say the two V-belts
still unguarded?
A They were still unguarded by those guards,

they were guarded by a | ocked gate.

MSHA | nspector Joseph Quartaro was called in rebuttal by the
petitioner and he confirmed that he inspected the mne in August,
1991, and that he spoke with M. Menning and i nformed himthat
he was relaying a nmessage from his supervisor and district
manager that gates were no | onger acceptable and that the
equi pnrent itself would have to be guarded. M. Quartaro stated
that M. Moenni ng becanme upset and alluded to "some sort of an
agreenent that the gate was supposed to be all right" (Tr. 148).
M. Quartaro informed M. Menning that he would be cited on
t he next inspection if the equipnent was not guarded, and
M. Menning reiterated "that it was always all right before, and
now they are changing it again, and that he didn't think that
they should have to do it" (Tr. 149). M. Quartaro further
explained as follows at (Tr. 149-150):

Q Okay. What else did he say? Did he say when
he woul d change thenf?

A Well, | think it cane up, you know, when he
had to change them and | think | said
sonething to the effect he didn't have to
stop right now and do it, he could do it when
they were down.

Q When you said they could do it when they were

down - -

A Uh- huh.

Q -- what did that mean to you?

A To me, that neant when they were not
produci ng, at -- you know, perhaps after work
or on weekends, during breakdowns, or
what ever, you know. | think he understood

what | nmeant by down. You know, we've worked
toget her many tinmes, and he's been inspected
many tinmes, and | felt that he understood
what | nmean by that.
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Q So would you say -- did you cone to any
agreenent that he did not have to fix the
guards until a w nter shutdown?

A. I don't renmenber any such agreenent as that,
no. | said, as | renmenber, that they can do

it when they were down.

say that nean,
shut down, |

-- you know, |

Now, if he wants to

you know, during wi nter

don't know as t hat

necessarily is correct.

M. Quartaro did not
M. Menning to assunme that he
spring to install the guards.
what he woul d have done if M.
wait until the winter shutdown
M. Quartaro responded that he
that "you ought to get it done
time that you had" (Tr. 154).
as follows at (Tr. 156):

Q Ckay.

August, did you have

M. Moenni ng that they,
wait to put the guards on unti
even if they didn't shut down for

shut down,
two years?

A No.

woul d not get
that they did not
unti
even if there was no
shut down?

A. No, because as |
| said was that it
the next inspection.
i nspecti on,

M. Quartaro believed that the
visit could have been anytine after

December (Tr. 157-158).
On cross-exam nation, M.
he conveyed"” in August, 1991

was nothing in witing,
expl ai ned what was neant

bel i eve that

stated earlier, |

to M. Mdenning was ora
and t hat
by "when the mi ne was down"

it was reasonable for
could wait until the follow ng
In response to a question as to
Moenni ng had asked if he could
to install the guards,

woul d have told M. Moenning

by the first avail able down

M. Quartaro further explained

When you had the conversation in

an understanding with
Wal ker Stone, could
their

Did you have any understandi ng that they
cited because you had told them
have to fix the guards
t hey shut down,

even if that time --
definite tinme of

t hi nk what

had to be done prior to

You know, the next

done any tine.

after his

t hr ough

"next inspection”
COct ober 1, 1991,

Quartaro stated that "the nessage
and there
M. Mbenni ng

(Tr. 159).

nei ther he or
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M. Quartaro could not recall that any specific time or date when
the guarding had to be in place was nmentioned, and he did not
state any specific time for conpliance (Tr. 160).

Wth regard to his instructions concerning the discontinued
acceptance of gates as conpliance with the guarding requirenents
of the regulation in question, M. Quartaro stated that the
deci sion was apparently nade at the MSHA Denver district neeting,
and he explained further as follows at (Tr. 164):

THE W TNESS: That informati on was brought back to us
by our supervisor and told to us. You know, when they
do that, well, then if you go to soneplace and they
have a gate there, and then it beconmes our job to tel
him And at that time, by the way, we were also told
that because it was a change in policy, that you
weren't to issue a citation at that time, you were only
to tell them and give themthis fair anpunt of time to
conply before a citation would be issued.

M. Quartaro could not recall that any written instructions
foll owed the verbal communication to him He confirned that he
was aware at that time that gates were being used as guards and
that this was acceptabl e because of MSHA'S policy or
"under st andi ng", and he would not cite an operator for using
a gate at that time (Tr. 165-166).

Petitioner's Argunents

The petitioner argues that the evidence establishes that the
cited noving machi ne parts were not guarded by an enclosure to
prevent persons fromconng in contact with the nachi ne pinch
points. The petitioner takes note of the fact that the
respondent does not claimthat section 56.14107(a), does not
apply to the cited equipnent. |In response to the respondent's
defense that it conplied with the regulation by installing a
| ocked gate, the petitioner asserts that while the gate may have
restricted access to the equipnent, it was not an adequate guard
and did not physically prevent anyone from conming into contact
with the noving machi ne parts.

The petitioner concedes that while the presence of a gate
may affect the likelihood of an injury, it cannot satisfy the
requi renents of section 56.14107(a), because nothing will prevent
a person fromcomng in contact with the noving machi ne parts
once a person gains access to the area. The petitioner cites
i nspector Laufenberg's testinony that it was possible for sonmeone
to clinb over the gate, that sonmeone could be at the equi pnent
checking it for routine maintenance, and that two enpl oyees had
keys to the gate and could have gai ned access to the equi pnent.
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Citing the "unpredictability of human behavior", the petitioner
concl udes that an enpl oyee mght attenpt to save tine and
lubricate the machinery while it was operating, rather than
shutting the machi ne down.

The petitioner points out that M. Wal ker and M. Mbenni ng
were aware of the fact that Inspector Quartaro had notified them
i n August, 1991, that using gates as guards would no | onger be
acceptable. The petitioner acknow edges that M. Quartaro
informed them that they did not need to i mmedi ately shut down the
equi prment, and could unit until the plant shut down, but also
stated that the equi pment would have to be guarded by the next
i nspection or a citation would be issued. The petitioner further
points out that M. Quartaro did not state that the respondent
could install the guards at its conveni ence, and that he neant
that the guards could be installed after work, on week-ends, or
when there was a break-down, and that M. Quartaro believed that
the respondent knew what he nmeant. Further, the petitioner cites
M. Wal ker's testinmony that by interpreting M. Quartaro's words
to mean that he could install the guards when he thought it was
conveni ent, he was not doi ng what MSHA request ed.

The petitioner concludes that once faced with a citation and
atinme for abatenent, the respondent was required to abate the
condition within the allotted tinme, and if it disagreed with the
citation, it had a right to a hearing on whether the citations
were properly issued. By refusing to cooperate with the
i nspectors and to reject MSHA's determi nation that the cited
conditions constituted violations, the petitioner concludes that
t he respondent acted in bad faith. The petitioner further
concludes that the respondent could have taken the approxi mately
four hours to construct and install the guards, and points out
that it had six nonths to build and install the guards on the
screens, not counting the six nonths that it was aware that it
was not in conpliance, and that M. Wal ker testified that he
woul d not have conplied with the citations w thout the issuance
of the Section 104(b) orders. Under these circunstances, the
petitioner believes that the section 104(b) orders were
justified, and that the special penalty assessments were
war r ant ed.

Respondent's Argunents

The respondent does not dispute the fact that the cited
screen v-belt drives were not individually physically guarded
fromcontact. It contends that the drives were "guarded" by
| ocked gates at the bottom of the access stairs leading to the
equi pment, and relies on the fact that this method of guarding
had been i nspected by MSHA for a nunmber of years w thout any
citation being issued.
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The respondent acknow edges that during an MSHA inspection
in August, 1991, it was advised that the use of |ocked gates as a
guardi ng nethod for the equi pment in question was no | onger
acceptable to MSHA. Respondent asserts that it agreed that it
woul d change the method of guardi ng when the plant shut down for
the winter. However, the plant did not shut down for the w nter,
and during a subsequent inspection on March 19, 1992, the
respondent was cited for failure to properly guard the cited belt
drive units. Subsequently, on Septenber 21, 1992, the inspector
who issued the citations returned to the mne, and after finding
that the conditions had not been abated and the guards were not
installed, he issued section 104(b) orders shutting down the
cited equi pment. The guards were provided and the orders were
term nated the next day.

The respondent takes the position that based on nore than
three years of MSHA inspections without citation for the use of
| ocked gates, and without a change in the regulation, its method
of guarding the cited equi pment with gates was in conpliance with
the regulation. In further support of this position, the
respondent cites Inspector Laufenberg's testinony that there had
been no change in the regulation since 1988, and that | ocked
gates to prevent access had been acceptabl e and passed
i nspecti on.

The respondent cites the testinony of |nspector Quartaro
confirm ng the fact that MSHA supervisors inforned inspectors of
the change in the interpretation of the regulation which led to
the citations in this case, but it takes the position that a
change in interpretation without notice and opportunity for
hearing is not a lawful change in the regul ation.

The respondent asserts that all of the witnesses testified
to the conversation between M. Moenning and the inspectors
"which resulted in an agreenent” that it could change the nethod
of guarding "to neet this new interpretation" when the plant shut
down for the winter. However, between August, 1991, "when this
new i nterpretation was first announced", and March, 1992, when
the citations were issued, the plant had not shut down for the
w nter and continued to operate.

The respondent asserts that |Inspectors Quartaro and
Lauf enberg did not deny that the respondent had been told it
coul d change the method of guarding during the w nter shutdown,
and that the only evidence in support of the citations is that
"their supervisors" felt that sufficient tinme had past to enable
the respondent to change the nmethod of guarding. Respondent
contends that this ignored MSHA's concurrence that the change
could be made during a shutdown even though no plant shut down
occurred, and that M. Wil ker believed that that inspectors
i ntended that the change in the guardi ng method be nade when the
pl ant shut down. Under all of these circunstances, the
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respondent suggests that no violations occurred. However, if the
citations are affirmed, and relying on the purported MSHA
"agreenment”, and the decision in Mline Consuners Conpany,

15 FMSHRC 1954 ( Septenber 1993), the respondent further suggests
that m ni mum assessnments be made for the violations.

Fi ndi ngs and Concl usi ons

The respondent is charged with a violation of mandatory
safety standard 30 C.F. R [ 56.14107(a), which provides as
fol |l ows:

0 56. 14107 Movi ng machi ne parts.

(a) Moving machine parts shall be guarded to protect
persons from contacting gears, sprockets, chains,

drive, head, tail and takeup pulleys, flywheels,
couplings, shafts, fan blades, and simlar noving parts
that can cause injury.

MSHA' s Program Policy Manual, June 18, 1991, with respect to
the interpretation and application of section 56.14107(a), states
in relevant part as follows (Exhibit P-11):

Al noving parts identified under this standard are to
be guarded with adequately constructed, installed and
mai nt ai ned guards to provide the required protection.
The use of chains to rail off wal kways and travel ways
near noving machi ne parts, with or w thout the posting
of warning signs in lieu of guards, is not in
conpliance with this standard.

In Yaple Creek Sand & Gravel, 11 FMSHRC 1471 (August 1989),
Judge Morris found that a gate 4 to 5 feet from an unguarded
chain drive assenbly on a hopper feeder conveyor belt did not
satisfy the guarding requirenents of section 56.14001
(redesi gnated 56.14107).

In Moline Consunmers Company, 12 FMSHRC 1953 (COct ober 1990),
| affirmed a citation issued on June 21, 1989, for a violation of
the guarding requirenents of section 56.14107, because of the
m ne operator's failure to physically guard a crusher V-belt
drive nmotor. The cited equi pnent was bei ng "guarded" by a gate
normal |y equi pped with a padl ock, but the gate was partially
opened and unl ocked at the tinme the inspector observed the
condi tion.

In the Mdline Consuners case, although the operator conceded
that the cited equi pnent was not individually physically guarded
and constituted a violation of section 56.14107, it relied on the
fact that the MSHA district that inspected its operation accepted
a gate as conpliance with the regulation, and it chall enged
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MSHA' s position that the gate nust be kept secured with a bolt
and nut rather than a padlock and key. The operator also relied
on the fact that in another MSHA district where it operated, it
had not been cited for guarding equi pment with padl ocks rather
than bolts. The inspector who issued the initial citation, the

i nspector who issued the follow up section 104(b) order, and
their supervisor all confirned that at that point in tinme their
district accepted gates secured by bolts as conpliance with
section 56.14107, but did not accept gates secured only by

padl ocks. Indeed, after the section 104(b) order was issued, the
operator installed a physical guard over the cited belt drive to
abate the order, but was subsequently permtted to renove the
guard and allowed to continue to use the bolted gate as a neans
of guarding. Qut of an apparent abundance of caution, the
operator also used a padlock to secure the gate and posted
war ni ng signs.

In Mline Consunmers, | noted that MSHA' s Program Policy
Manual , July 1, 1988, contained no reference to the use of |ocked
or bolted gates as a means of conplying with the guarding
requi rements of former section 56.14001, but did nention the fact
that the use of chains at wal kways and travel ways near noving
machi ne parts was unacceptable. | also noted that an MSHA
publication guide relating to equi pment guarding relied on in
part by the operator also stated that noving machi ne parts nust
be individually guarded rather than restricting access by
installing railings.

In a subsequent Moline Consunmers Conpany case, 15 FMSHRC
1954 ( Septenber 1993), Comm ssion Judge Gerold Fel dman rejected
the operator's use of perineter fencing to guard a jaw crusher
with drive assenbly pinch points, as conpliance with the guarding
requi renents of section 56.14107(a). The fencing in question was
simlar to that used at the Ml ine Consuners operation that was
the subject of nmy case. Judge Feldnman ruled that it was clear
fromthe plain and unanbi guous words of the regulation, that
nmovi ng machi nes parts nmust be individually physically guarded and
that the use of area guarding, such as fencing, does not neet the
standard. Judge Fel dman al so concluded that it was clear that
the intent of the standard is to protect individuals from noving
machi ne parts rather than the machine itself, and he cited two
U.S. Labor Departnent Petition for Modification decisions
concerning section 56.14107, concluding that area guarding is
only an alternative to the required guardi ng of noving parts
found in that regul ation.

In Hi ghl ands County Board of Commi ssioners, 14 FMSHRC 270,
291 (February 1992), | affirned a violation of section
56.14107(a), after concluding that the specific and unequi voca
| anguage of the regulation requires guarding for any of the
enuner at ed novi ng machi ne parts, and that the obvious intent of
the regulation is to prevent contact with a noving part.
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In Overland Sand and Gravel, 14 FMSHRC 1337, 1341 (August
1992), Commi ssion Judge David Barbour affirmed a violation of
section 56.14107(a), after concluding that a padl ocked chain
stretched across an access stairway |eading to an unguarded
screeni ng device used to screen gravel did not constitute
adequate guarding within the neaning of the regulation.

I conclude and find that the clear and unanbi guous | anguage
found in section 56.14107(a), which states in relevant part that
"nmovi ng machi ne parts shall be guarded to protect persons from
contacting"” the enunerated and "simlar noving parts" requires
that such parts be individually physically guarded, and that the
use of perinmeter or area guarding, such as fences or | ocked
gates, as a nmeans of preventing or inpeding access to the
equi pnent, does not conply with the standard. Since the obvious
intent of the standard is to prevent injuries to anyone who may,
for whatever reason, come in contact with an exposed noving
machi ne part, | cannot conclude that requiring a guard at the
specific location of the nmoving machi ne part to prevent contact
by anyone who may have gai ned authorized or unauthorized access
to the equi pnment, is unreasonable. The respondent does not
di spute the fact that the cited screen V-belt drives were not
i ndi vidually physically guarded from contact.

In the course of the hearing, the respondent's counse
stated that the respondent decided to litigate the citations "as
a matter of principle" because |ocked gates had been accepted as
conpliance in the past as a matter of policy (Tr. 63-64). In
this regard, the respondent asserted that MSHA's policy change in
the interpretati on and application of section 57.14107(a), with
respect to the use of |ocked gates as a neans of conpliance, was
unl awf ul because it was acconplished wi thout notice and hearing.
The respondent's argunments are rejected. The respondent has
acknow edged that it was advised in August, 1991, seven nonths
before the citations were issued, that the use of |ocked gates as
a guardi ng nmethod were no | onger acceptable, and the fact that
MSHA' s of fice may have nmade that decision without formal notice
and hearing does not warrant the vacation of the citations. |
conclude and find that normal APA rul emaki ng was not required
because no mandatory safety regul ati on was invol ved.

I find no evidence that MSHA's past acceptance of | ocked
gates as a neans of conpliance with the standard was in witing,
or incorporated as part of its official policy nmanual. The
written policy of record sinply states that the use of chains
across a wal kway or travelway was not acceptable and no nmention
is made of |ocked gates. The evidence establishes that the
respondent was cited for a guarding violation on Septenber 11
1985 (exhibit R-A), because it had "guarded” its V-belt screen
drives with a chain and a sign placed across the wal kway | eadi ng
to those areas. The citation was abated after the respondent
renoved the chain and installed a | ocked gate as a neans of
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bl ocki ng access to the cited equi pnent. The respondent obviously
views the abatenment as MSHA's "policy" acceptance of |ocked gates
as a neans of conpliance, particularly since the use of the gates
were not chall enged during subsequent MSHA i nspections. However
in the context of a litigated case, the question of whether or
not the use of a gate conplies with section 57.14107(a), is a
matter for adjudication by the Commission and its trial judges.
Local MSHA policy directives, or policy nmanual guidelines, are
not officially promnmulgated regul atory standards or rules of |aw
bi ndi ng on the Conmi ssion or the trial judge. See: dd Ben Coa
Conmpany, 2 FMSHRC 2806, 2809 (Cctober 1980); Al abama By-Products
Corporation, 4 FMSHRC 2128 (Decenber 1982); King Knob Coal Co.,

3 FMSHRC 1417 (June 1981). However, any confusion resulting from
i nconsi stent policy interpretations and applications may mtigate
the respondent's |level of negligence and the civil penalty
assessment for the violation.

The respondent's suggestion that the citations should be
vacat ed because it had an "agreement” with MSHA that it could
construct and install the required guarding at its conveni ence
during any wi nter shutdown after August, 1991, when it was first
i nformed that MSHA woul d no | onger accept | ocked gates as
equi pment guarding is rejected. | find no credible probative
evi dence of any bindi ng agreenent between MSHA and the respondent
that permitted the respondent to wait indefinitely for a winter
season severe enough to cause it to shut down its operation,
thereby providing a "convenient" tine for it to conply with the
requi renments of section 56.14107(a). | conclude and find that
the respondent was obliged to abate the citations issued by
I nspector Laufenberg within the tine fixed for abatenent, and
there is no evidence that M. Laufenberg was a party to any
"agreenment". Indeed, M. Menning admtted that no such
agreenent existed, and that M. Laufenberg did not tell himthat
he could unit until a shut down occurred before guarding the
equi prent. M. Menning also confirned that at the tinme the
citations were issued, he did not believe that he had the next
seven nonths until winter to install the guards (Tr. 114-115).

Insofar as any "agreenent” with Inspector Quartaro is
concerned, | find no credible evidence to support any reasonabl e
conclusion that M. Quartaro agreed to any "open ended" tine
frame within which the respondent could conply and install the
guards at the tine he visited the mne in August, 1991, and
i nformed the respondent that | ocked gates were no | onger
acceptable. Although M. Quartaro may not have i nforned
M. Moenning of any specific tine for conpliance, and sinply
advi sed himthat the guards could be installed during "the first
avai |l abl e down tine", | find credible M. Quartaro's testinony
that the guards would have to be installed by the next inspection
whi ch woul d have occurred during the last quarter of 1991. |
find incredible the respondent's suggestion that in the absence
of any winter shut downs, it could have waited indefinitely to
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conply and install the guards. | also find incredible

M. Walker's reliance on the prior abatement of the Septenber 11
1985, citation as an excuse for not conplying with the citations
i ssued by I nspector Laufenberg on March 19, 1992.

The respondent's assertion that the citations should not
have been issued because its nmethod of guarding the cited
equi pnrent had not been previously cited by MSHA i nspectors
is rejected. | conclude and find that the fact that
I nspector Quartaro did not issue a citation when he inspected
the mine in August, 1991, or that other inspectors did not cite
the use of gates as guarding devices in the past, did not estop
I nspect or Laufenberg fromissuing the citations during his
March 19, 1992, inspection. While the absence of prior citations
may be relevant to the issue of negligence, it is not controlling
on the issue as to whether or not there was a violation.

It is clear that the |ack of previous enforcenment does not
support a claimof estoppel. Comm ssion Judges have consistently
hel d that the lack of prior inspections and the |ack of prior
citations does not estop an inspector fromissuing citations
during subsequent inspections. See: Mdwest Mnerals Coa
Conpany, Inc., 3 FMSHRC 1417 (January 1981); M ssouri Gravel Co.,
3 FMSHRC 1465 (June 1981); Sevtex Materials Conpany, 5 FMSHRC 520
(April 1986); Southway Construction Co., 6 FMSHRC 2426 (COctober
1984). Further, in the case of Emery M ning Corporation v.
Secretary of Labor, 3 MSHC 1585, the Court of Appeals for
the Tenth Circuit, in affirm ng the Commi ssion's decision at
5 FMSHRC 1400 (August 1983), stated in relevant part as follows
at 3 MSHC 1588:

As this court has observed, "courts invoke the doctrine
of estoppel against the governnent with great
reluctance". . . .Application of the doctrine is
justified only where "it does not interfere with
under | yi ng governnent policies or unduly undernine the
correct enforcenent of a particular [aw or regul ati on"

. Equi tabl e estoppel "may not be used to

contradict a clear Congressional mandate,”. . .as
undoubt edly woul d be the case were we to apply it
here .

Al t hough the record reflects sone confusion surrounding
MSHA' s approval of Emery's training plan, as a genera
rule "those who deal with the Governnent are expected
to know the | aw and may not rely on the conduct of
government agents contrary to |aw'

On the basis of the foregoing findings and concl usi ons,
conclude and find that the petitioner has established the
violations by a clear preponderance of the evidence adduced in
this case. Accordingly, the disputed citations ARE AFFI RVED.
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The Section 104(b) Orders

Al t hough M. Wal ker stated that he attenpted to contest the
two section 104(b) orders that were issued because of the
respondent's failure to tinely abate the cited conditions, there
is no evidence that he did in fact tinely contest the orders
pursuant to section 105(d) of the Act and Conm ssion Rul e 20,

29 C.F.R 0O 2700.20. Consequently, the two section 104(b) orders
are not in issue in this civil penalty proceedi ng except to the
extent that they may be relevant to the respondent's good faith
conpliance and the civil penalties assessed for the violations.

Si ze of Business and Effect of Civil Penalty Assessnments on the
Respondent's Ability to Continue in Business

The parties stipulated that the respondent is a snall
operator and that paynent of the proposed civil penalty
assessments will not adversely affect its ability to continue
i n business.

Hi story of Prior Violations

An MSHA conmputer print-out reflects that for the period of
March 19, 1990, to March 18, 1992, the respondent paid civi
penalty assessments of $192 for five (5) citations, four (4) of
whi ch were "single-penalty" citations. It was not cited for any
vi ol ati ons of section 56.14107 (exhibit 1). The print-out
further reflects that prior to March 19, 1990, the respondent
paid $1,235, for thirty-three (33) citations, eight (8) of which
were "single penalty" citations. Six (6) prior citations of
section 56.14107, are noted, but no further information was
forthcoming fromthe petitioner with respect to these citations.
I conclude and find that the respondent has a good conpliance
record and that additional increases in the assessments on the
basis of this record are not warranted.

Gravity

The inspector found that the violations were not significant
and substantial (S&S). | take note of the fact that access to
t he unguarded equi prent in question was restricted by the | ocked
gates in question, and the inspector found it unlikely that
anyone would be in the inmedi ate equi pnment area while the
equi pnent was in operation. Under the circunstances, | agree
with the inspector's non-S&S findings, and | conclude and find
that the violations were non-serious.

Negl i gence
I nspector Laufenberg determ ned that the violations were the

result of noderate negligence on the part of the respondent, and
he based his findings on the fact that the respondent was advi sed



~361

as early as August, 1991, by Inspector Quataro that the equi pnent
needed to be guarded and that |ocked gates would no | onger be
acceptable to MSHA. On the facts of this case, | agree with the
i nspector's negligence finding and | conclude and find that the
viol ations were the result of the respondent's failure to
exerci se reasonabl e care

Good Faith Conpliance

After careful consideration of all of the evidence and
testinmony in this case | conclude and find that the respondent
failed to exercise good faith conpliance in tinmely abating the
citations. Although |I can synpathize with the respondent's
frustration with respect to MSHA' s prior enforcenent
interpretations regarding to the use of gates as a guarding
met hod, the fact remmins that the respondent was notified in
August, 1991, that gates were no | onger acceptable.

I can further understand the respondent's subsequent
reliance on the fact that MSHA may have taken a rather benign
interest in citing the respondent for using a | ocked gate, and
the respondent's belief that |Inspector Quartaro "agreed"” that the
guards could be installed during a shut down tinme which nmay not
have been clearly defined. However, once the citations were
i ssued by | nspector Laufenberg on March 13, 1992, and he
instructed M. Menning to "fix it", without any reference to any
shutdown time frame, the respondent was conpelled to guard the
equi pment within the abatement tine fixed by M. Laufenberg.

M. Moenning adm tted that he did not believe he could unit

until a winter shut down to abate the citations, but no further
action was taken even though four or five additional nonths past
beyond the April 14, 1992, abatenent tinme fixed by the inspector

M. Moenning adnmitted that materials were on hand to construct
the guards, and he confirned that they were routinely
constructed. However, conpliance was finally achieved only after
I nspector Laufenberg issued the section 104(b) orders, taking the
equi pnment out of service, and they were term nated the foll ow ng
day after the equi pment was guarded.

Civil Penalty Assessnents

On the basis of the foregoing findings and concl usi ons, and
taking into account the civil penalty assessment criteria found
in section 110(i) of the Act, | conclude and find that the
following civil penalty assessnents are reasonabl e and
appropriate for the violations that have been affirned.

Citation No. Dat e 30 CF.R Section Assessnent

4123442 3/ 19/ 92 56. 14107( a) $350
4123553 3/ 19/ 92 56. 1410( a) $350
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ORDER

The respondent 1S ORDERED to pay the aforenentioned civil
penal ty assessnents, and paynent shall be nmade to the petitioner
(MSHA) within thirty (30) days of the date of this decision and
order. Upon receipt of paynent, this matter is dism ssed.

Ceorge A. Koutras
Adm ni strative Law Judge

Di stribution:

Tanbra Leonard, Esq., Ofice of the Solicitor, U.S. Departnment of
Labor, 1585 Federal O fice Building, 1961 Stout Street, Denver,
CO 90294 (Certified Mil)

Keith R Henry, Esq., Wary, Davis, Henry, Struebing, and Troup,
819 N. Washi ngton, P.O Box 187, Junction City, KS 66441
(Certified Mil)
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